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Introduced by the Council President at the request of the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission:

ORDINANCE 2008-1077-E
AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE LONNIE B. AND DOROTHEA BRYAN RESIDENCE LOCATED AT 7836 NORTH LAURA STREET, JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA AS A LANDMARK AND LANDMARK SITE; DIRECTING THE ZONING ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER THE LANDMARK AND LANDMARK SITE DESIGNATION ON THE ZONING ATLAS; DIRECTING THE COUNCIL SECRETARY TO NOTIFY EACH APPLICANT, THE PROPERTY OWNER AND THE PROPERTY APPRAISER OF THE LANDMARK AND LANDMARK SITE DESIGNATION AND TO CAUSE SAID DESIGNATION TO BE RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.


WHEREAS, the Jacksonville City Council (the “Council”) promulgated Chapter 307, Ordinance Code, to facilitate the designation of landmarks and landmark sites, where appropriate; and


WHEREAS, property owners within 350 feet of the boundaries of the property located at 7836 North Laura Street have been notified of the intent to designate the structure (the “Subject Property”), situated on the northwest side of North Laura Street between West 68th Street and Laura Lane in Panama Park.  The Subject Property was constructed circa 1932 and consists of a two-story masonry building with Prairie Style influences; and


WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 307, Ordinance Code, the Council has considered the issue of designating the Subject Property as a landmark and landmark site, taking into consideration its importance and historical value, as more fully set forth in the Designation Application and Report of the Planning and Development Department, a copy of which is on file in the Council Secretary’s Office as Exhibit 1 to this legislation, and incorporated by reference herein (the “Report”); and


WHEREAS, public hearings have been held by the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission, the Council and its committees regarding the issue of designating the Subject Property as a landmark and landmark site; and


WHEREAS, by enacting this ordinance, the Council is exercising its power and authority to protect the health, safety and welfare of the City of Jacksonville; now, therefore


BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Jacksonville:


Section 1.

Designation of Landmark and Landmark Site.  Pursuant to Chapter 307, Ordinance Code, the Council hereby designates the Subject Property as a landmark and landmark site.


Section 2.

Satisfaction of Requisite Criteria.  The Council hereby finds that the Subject Property satisfies at least two  (2) of the requisite criteria set forth in Section 307.104(j), Ordinance Code, as more fully set forth in Exhibit 1 to this legislation, a copy of which is on file in the Council Secretary’s Office and incorporated by reference herein (the “Report”).
Section 3.

Landmark and Landmark Site Designation on Zoning Atlas.  The Council hereby directs the Zoning Administrator to designate the Subject Property as a landmark and landmark site on the Zoning Atlas.


Section 4.
Notice of Landmark and Landmark Site Designation.  The Council hereby directs the Council Secretary to notify each applicant, the property owner and the Property Appraiser of the designation of the Subject Property as a landmark and landmark site.


Section 5.

Recording of Landmark and Landmark Site Designation.  The Council hereby directs the Council Secretary to record this ordinance in the public records for Duval County, Florida.


Section 6.

Effective Date. The adoption of this ordinance shall be deemed to constitute a quasi-judicial action of the City Council and shall become effective upon signature by the Council President and the Council Secretary.

Form Approved:

     /s/ Cherry A. Shaw     
Office of General Counsel

Legislation Prepared By: Cherry A. Shaw
G:\SHARED\LEGIS.CC\2008\ord\7836 north laura street landmark designation 112508.doc 
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REPORT OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION FOR DESIGNATION
AS A CITY OF JACKSONVILLE LANDMARK

LM-08-01
Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence
7836 North Laura Street
Panama Park

GENERAL LOCATION: Northwest side of North Laura Street between West 68" Street and
Laura Lane.

Prepared in accordance with the JACKSONVILLE ORDINANCE CODE, SECTION 307.104, the
Jacksonville Planning and Development Department hereby forwards to the Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Commission, its "Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations” on the Landmark
Designation, LM-08-01, sponsored by the property owners, Mercer & Marcia Morris.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

(A) At the request of the property owner and with the approval of the Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Commission, the Jacksonville Planning and Development Department began
preparing a designation application for the property located at 7836 North Laura Street. '

(B)  Consistent with the JACKSONVILLE ORDINANCE CODE, SECTION 307.104(d), the
Planning and Development Department determined that the application for designation of the
property at 7836 North Laura Street, as a Landmark was complete. As required, the Planning
and Development Department had signs posted in front of the property being considered for
designation, as well as sent notices by U.S. Mail to each owner of real property within three
hundred and fifty (350) feet of the proposed site. Notice of the public hearing on the designation
of the property at 7836 North Laura Street, as a Landmark was published in the Financial News
and Daily Report. Proof of publication will be attached to this report.

(C) I designated, any activity affecting the exterior of the property at 7836 North Laura Street, will
require a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) from the Jacksonville Historic Preservation
Commission. Before issuing the Certificate of Appropriateness, the Commission will review the
proposed activity for consistency with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation
and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings. Routine repairs and maintenance,
alterations, and new construction not seen from the public right-of-way and other projects
consistent with the Secretary's Standards can be pre-approved by the Jacksonville Planning and
Development Department. However, the following activities will require a review by the
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission.

l. Additions to historic buildings or structures.
2. Major changes to or addition of door and window openings.
3. Demolition of all or part of historic buildings.
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i 4. New construction and additions.

5. Enclosure of porch, porte-cochere, or garage.

6. Porch replacement.

7. Relocation of historic buildings.

8. Roof replacement with material different from existing or change in roof form.
9. Storefront restoration or replacement.

} (D) At the close of the public hearing, the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission shall
determine, whether based upon the evidence, 7836 North Laura Street, meets the criteria for

} designation. In reviewing the application, the Planning and Development Department has found
the application to meet two of the seven criteria. The two criteria include the following;

A.  Its value as a significant reminder of the cultural, historical, architectural, or archaeological
heritage of the City, state or nation.

The subject property at 7836 North Laura Street has significance as one of the high quality
residences being built before World War 11 in the Panama Park neighborhood along the south side of
l the Trout River north of Downtown Jacksonville. In developing the historical context as part of the
landmark designation application, Panama Park is defined by the Trout River to the north, the St.
Johns River to the east, North Laura Street, Rolliston Street (West 64 Street) and North Main Street
} to the west, with the southern boundary being the CSX railroad immediately south of East 54"
Street. This two-story masonry building with Prairie Style influences was constructed in c.1932 for
| the family of Lonnie B. and Dorothea Bryan. The Panama Park neighborhood has not been
systematically surveyed for the presence of historic resources, therefore, the actual number, age, and
styles of historic buildings in the community has not been determined. However, the design and
materials of the residence at 7836 North Laura Street, as well as the house next door at 7830, reflect
‘ the high quality of residential construction occurring in parts of Panama Park during the first half of
the twentieth century. Although Panama Park was annexed into the City of Jacksonville in 1925, a
city building permit record has not been located at this time which would identify original builder
] and possibly architect.

1 Although having a recorded history dating to the Second Spanish Period (1784-1821), Panama
Park’s primary pertod of growth was during the first half of the twentieth century when over thirty
plats were filed in the area, however, the earliest recorded plat, Lawton’s Subdivision of Panama,
was submitted by Colonel Winburn J. Lawton in 1878. Most of the later developments in Panama
Park were replats of Lawton’s Subdivision. During much of the last quarter of the nineteenth
| century, Panama Park was associated more with recreation and entertainment than residential
1 development, particularly as related to the popular sport of bicycle racing. Although having some
residential development during this early period, the more current identity of the Panama Park
; neighborhood is closely associated with George W. Clark’s Panama Investment company’s
Subdivision of Panama Park. Located on both the east and west sides of North Main Street and
including the parcel associated with the subject property, Clark’s subdivision was placed on the
market in 1909. Clark promoted his fifty acre subdivision as a new upscale neighborhood lecated e 1
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a convenient and scenic location, as well as the protection of property value with the use of
restrictive covenants. Industrial uses have since encroached along the juncture of the St. Johns River
and the Trout River, as well as commercial uses established along North Main Street, the primary
north entryway into Jacksonville before the interstate highways. However, the residential sections of
Panama Park, which are predominately single-family, have remained stable.1

The first occupant of the residence at 7836 North Laura Street was Lonnie B. and Dorothea Bryan.
Although identified in the 1928 city directory as a salesman, Lonnie B. Bryan was associated with
the recreational business including the Gem Floridian Billiards Parlor and later the Floridian
Amusement Company, which had a billiard parlor located at 215-217 West Forsyth Street. In 1936,
he became the president of Duval Spirits Company, which was owned by him and his brother, James
Baker Bryan who later sold out to Lonnie Bryan. After Lonnie Bryan moved to Jacksonville Beach
by 1938, the residence was occupied by Marion C. and Ida Whitehead from 1938 to 1942. A
railroad conductor, Marion Whitehead and his family moved to Riverside in 1943 with the house
being re-occupied by Lonnie B. and Dorothea Bryan. Reportedly, Lonnie Bryan built and resided in
the house at 7817 North Laura Street before moving to 7836 North Laura Street.

Lonnie B. Bryan’s brother, James Baker Bryan, was responsible for constructing the residence next
door at 7830 North Laura Street which reflects the same age and style of the subject property. Over
the years, James Baker Bryan owned and operated many popular night clubs in Jacksonville
including the Windmill on Philips Highway, the Show Bar along the south side of the river across
from Downtown, and the Skyway on North Main Street. His clubs also included slot machines
which were legal in Florida for a two year period from 1935-1937. According to family members,
both brothers were involved in the smuggling and sale of bootlegged Cuban rum during prohibition
which ended in 1933, a year before the construction of both houses.2 Although not confirmed by
family members, there were rumors that the rum was shipped directly to their houses which had
direct backyard access to the Trout River, as well as that a tunnel connected the brothers’ houses on
North Laura Street.

G. Its suitability for preservation or restoration.

In utilizing this criterion, it has been the practice of the Planning and Development Department
to evaluate proposed landmarks based on evidence of significant exterior alterations that have
negatively impacted character-defining features, as well as represent alterations difficult, costly,
or impossible to reverse. Further, the degree and nature of any exterior deterioration, as well as
the evidence of long term and potentially on-going neglect are also a factor in evaluating
potential landmarks for their suitability for preservation or restoration. Based on a site visit by a
representative of the Planning and Development Department, the residence at 7836 North Laura
Street appears to be basically sound with no evidence of exterior deterioration. The building has
been continuously occupied and well maintained since its construction in 1932. In 1950 an
architecturally compatible one-story addition was constructed to the rear. Alterations to the
building, which include the application of vinyl soffits, installation of aluminum windows
replicating the 3/1 design of the original, the enclosing of a window pair with glass block and
two others with sliders, either have limited visibility from the public street or could be reversed.

| Summary of Panama Park history developed from historical context developed 1n the landmark designation report (LM-08-

D]

2 Oral Interview — Mrs Donald Buchanan, November 17, 2008 (Her husband’s grandmother was a sister of Lonnie & James
Baker Bryan).

Oral Interview — Mr. Harley Bryan. November 17, 2008 (Harley Bryan was the grandson of James Baker Bryan). As a

youth, Harley reported seeing slot machines stacked in the garage of his grandfather's house at 7830 North Laura SExhibit 1
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It is the opinion of the Planning and Development Department that these alterations have not
impacted the general architectural integrity of the residence, and its contribution to the historic
ambiance of Panama Park.

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the findings of this report, the Planning and Development Department recommends that the
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission approve the proposed designation of 7836 North Laura
Street (LM-08-01), as a City of Jacksonville Landmark.
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City of Jacksonville Landmark, Landmark Site,
or Historic District Nomination Form

Grayed Areas for Use by Staff

1. Name of Property

historic name 7836 North Laura Street Designation - LM-08-01

other names Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence EMSF Number 19817

2. Location

street & number 7836 North Laura Street

citv or town Jacksonville

state FLORIDA code __FL__countv DUVAL code zio 32208
Real estate assessment 032805-0000

(Attach continuation sheet If necessary)

3. Sponsorship Statement

As the owner, or official representative of the owner, | am aware of the proposal for designation of the
subject property or properties listed above as a city of Jacksonville landmark, landmark site, or historic
district. | have been advised of the procedures for review of the proposal by the Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Commission and the Jacksonville City Council. | understand that | will be naotified of the date
and place of any public meetings at which the proposal will be considered by the Jacksonville Historic
Preservation Commission, and the City Council. | also agree to sponsor the application and pay for all
notification costs. | am also aware that if designated, any construction activities affecting the subject
properties including alterations, new construction, demolition and relocation, will require a review for
consistency with the appropriate standards.

See Attached Letter From Property Owner

@gnature of property owner or representative ] Date
Representatives need to provide a signed and notarized letter from the property owner(s) identitying them as their official agent.

Sponsorship other than owner or official representative
Consistent with Jacksonville Ordinance Codes 307.104(a) and 307.105(a), the proposal for designation as

a city of Jacksonville landmark, landmark site, or historic district is being sponsored by the Jacksonville
Historic Preservation Commission.

Signature of sponsor | Title ] Date |

4. Legal Description of Property (according to county property appraiser’s office)

25-1S-26E, P 1 COS S/D Panama Park, Lot 6, Block 12

Attach continuation sheet if necessary
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Ricardo Quinones, Chairman

Jacksonville Historic Landmarks Commission
Suite 500

The Flonda Theatre Building

128 East Forsyth Street

Jacksonville, Florida

32202

Dear Mr. Quinones,

We are seeking application to your department as owner of our home,
to be considered a historical landmark.

Our address 1s 7836 N. Laura St., Panama Park, Florida. 32208.
] have enclosed historical information as we know it,

Thank you,

Mercer and Marcia Morris

7836 N. Laura St.

Jacksonville, Fl.

32208

004-924-9906
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Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence

7836 North Laura Street

Name of Property

Address

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include any previously listed resources in the
count)
private buildings Contributing Noncontributing
O public-local [] district
[C] public-State O site 1 1 buildings
] public-Federal (] structure sit
) object nes
structure
objects
1 1 total

Name of related multiple property listings
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

Number of contributing resources previously
designated

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

Single-Family Residence

Current Functions

Single—Family Residence

7. Description

Architectural Classification

Prairie Style

Narrative Description

Materials

foundation Enclosed Piers
walls Brick Veneer

roof Composition Shingles
other

Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuations sheets.)

SEE ATTACHED CONTINUATION SHEETS
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Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form
Continuation Sheet

7-1 PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION - The Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence, 7836 North Laura
Street

SUMMARY

The two-story brick veneer residence at 7836 North Laura Street is composed of the square original two story
section with one or more one-story additions stepping off from the rear or west elevation which fronts the
Trout River. Resting on an enclosed brick pier foundation, the residence has a hipped roof covered by
fiberglass composition shingles. The rear additions are also covered by hipped roofs. The residence has a full
width front porch supported by three square masonry columns, as well as covered by a shallow hipped roof.
The eaves of both the porch and main roof are enclosed with vinyl soffits. Sheathed on the exterior with a
dark red brick veneer, the residence originally had wooden double-hung sash windows with three over one
lights with vertical muntins 1n the upper sash. The sills of the original window openings were composed of a
sloping brick header course. The majority of the windows have been replaced with a vinyl or aluminum
product matching the design of the original.

In the rear yard is a two-bay garage constructed with jumbo brick and covered with a hipped roof. Probably
constructed after the primary residence, the bays of this garage face north with vehicular access by a concrete
driveway on the north side of the building. Constructed in 1932 according to the Property Appraiser Record
Card, the residence at 7836 North Laura Street reflects elements of the Prairie Style, popular predominately
between 1900 and 1920.3 Less common in other parts of Florida, the Prairie Style was very popular for
residential construction in Jacksonville, particularly in the Riverside-Avondale Historic District. Without a
definitive building permit record, the actual date of construction can not be determined, therefore it is possible
that the residence was constructed earlier which would be more consistent with its style.

PRESENT AND ORIGINAL APPEARANCE
Setting:

Located on the west side of the street, the subject property is sited on a small section of North Laura Street
that runs north from West 64™ Street to its intersection with Laura Lane that swings south to West 68" Street
and North Main Street. Part of George W. Clark’s subdivision of Panama Park, this section of the
neighborhood is composed predominately wtth single family residences. Most of the lots on the west side of
North Laura Street have rear frontage on either the Trout River or on an associated canal. This canal was
originally a marsh dredged by the Panama Investment Company to create a 1,000 foot long by 50 foot wide
boat basin with spolls being used to create or expand lots. To the east of this section of North Laura Street are
commercial and institutional uses along both sides of North Main Street.

Exterior Description — East Elevation.

The front or east elevation is defined by a full-with front porch covered with a shallow hipped roof. The
porch 1s supported by three square masonry columns resting on a masonry ledge wall that runs between the
columns except the opening on the first bay for accommodating access. The columns, as well as the ledge
walls, are capped with cast concrete coping. The coping on the ledge walls set on a brick header course. The
long section of the ledge wall running north from the second to the third column has four arched cast concrete
floor drains. Located on the south end of the porch between the first and second column, the masonry steps
are framed by ledges also capped with cast concrete coping. Set off to the south side of the front porch, the

3 Virginia & Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1984) pp 4BxBibit 1
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City of Jacksonville

J Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form
Continuation Sheet

main entryway is filled with a single panel style door which is flanked on the north by a grouping of three
. windows. Original to the house, these three windows are composed of wooden double-hung sashes with
g vertically oriented three over one lights. The columns support a wide frieze board under the vinyl soffits of
the porch roof. The second story of the front elevation has two window pairs evenly spaced on each end of
the wall plane. Framed by shutters, these windows are composed of white aluminum or vinyl sashes with
vertically oriented three over one lights. The roof visible on the east elevation is capped with a hipped dormer
that frames a single louvered attic vent.

North Elevation:

The original section of the north elevation has a balanced fenestration pattern with vertical alignment of
window openings. Also on this elevation is a side chimney capped at the shoulders with cast concrete
triangles. Between the edge of the front corner and the chimney are two single windows, one on the first
story and one on the second that line up vertically. To the west of the chimney are a single window and two
window pairs on both the first and second story. The lower two windows that frame the chimney have the
original wooden sashes with the others having the replacement product that mimics the vertically oriented
three over one design. The section of the addition visible on the north elevation has a window pair on the east
end and a single window at the west comer. This window connects to a continuous row of windows on the
rear or west elevation. Immediately to the north of this elevation is a concrete driveway connecting the rear
yard with North Laura Street.

West Elevation:

Only the second story of the original section of the west or rear elevation is visible, and has a grouping of
three windows on the north end and a single opening on the south end. A secondary utilitarian chimney
pierces the eaves immediately to the south of the window grouping. The stepping of the one-story additions
is evident on the west elevation. At the north end is a section that projects further towards the Trout River,
and has a continuous row of four windows with one over one lights. Mimicking the north elevation, the south
side of this projection has a single window that physically tied with the row of four windows. Set back from
this first projection ts another hipped roof addition that has a smaller single one over one window on the west
elevation. This addition jogs to the east where it 1s meets another one-story section coming out from the
original two-story west elevation. On the south elevation, these two sections are divided by an open passage
way leading to a single door opening. The west elevation of the section adjacent to the original two-story
wall has a small single window with one over one sashes, as well as larger sliding window towards the south
l corner.

The South Elevation

. ! The south elevation 1s also divided by the original two-story section and the one-story addition on the west

end or rear of the building. The one story section has a single nine light metal panel door accessed by a set of

1 steps placed parallel to the wall plane. Immediately to the east of the door is a single slider window. The

fenestration pattern of the two-story section of the south elevation is irregular. The second-story has two

single windows each evenly placed on each end of the south elevation. Between the first and second story is a

centrally placed window pair that probably provides light to the interior stairs. Below these windows on the

‘: first-story are two window pairs that line up vertically with the two single upper windows, as well as a smaller

window towards the east corner of the south elevation. All of the windows on the south elevation have the

same three over one hight pattern, except the first pair on the first story located towards the west corner of the
building. This shorter opening has been filled with glass block
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—} Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form
. ; Continuation Sheet

City of Jacksonville

Alterations

Based on a site visit by a representative of the Planning and Development Department, the residence at 7836
North Laura Street appears to be basically sound with no evidence of exterior deterioration. The building has
been continuously occupied and well maintained since its construction in 1932. In 1950 an architecturally
compatible one-story addition was constructed to the rear. Alterations to the building, which include the
application of vinyl soffits, installation of aluminum windows replicating the 3/1 design of the original, the
enclosing of a window pair with glass block and two others with sliders, either have limited visibility from the
public street or could be reversed. It is the opinion of the Planning and Development Department that these
alterations have not impacted the general architectural integrity of the residence, and its contribution to the
historic ambiance of Panama Park.
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Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence

7836 North Laura Street

Name of Property

Address

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable Landmark Designation Criteria
(Mark “x” iIn one or more boxes for the cnteria quahfying the
property

for Landmark Designation )

A lts value as a significant reminder of the cultural,
historical, architectural, or archaeological heritage of
the City, state or nation.

[ B lts location is the site of a significant local, state or
national event.

[ C itis identified with a person or persons who
significantly contributed to the development of the
City, state or nation.

[ D itisidentfied as the work of a master builder,
designer, or architect whose individual work has
influenced the development of the City, state or
nation,

(O E its value as a building is recognized for the quality of
its architecture, and 1t retains sufficient elements
showing its architecturat significance.

] F 1t has distinguishing characteristics of an architectural
style valuable for the study of a penod, method of
construction, or use of indigenous materials.

G Its suitability for preservation or restoration

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x" in all the boxes that apply )

Property is:

{1 A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[ B removed from its original location.

[ ¢ a tirthplace or grave.

[] D acemetery

(1 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[ F a commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years

Areas of Significance

] Agriculture [J Industry
O Architecture [J Maritime History
] Archaeology [ Military

[0 Community Planning [] Politics/Government
0 Commerce ] Recreation
O Education Social History
Early Settlement [ Transportation
O Health/Medicine Other:

Period of Significance

1879-1958

Significant Dates
c1932

Significant Person

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder

Narrative Statement of Significance

{Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

Please See Attached Continuation Sheets
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City of Jacksonville

Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District
Nomination Form Continuation Sheet

8.1: NARRATIVE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE - The Lonnie B. &
Dorothea Bryan
Residence
7836 North Laura Street

SUMMARY:

The residence at 7836 North Laura Street is one of a number of pre-World War II
buildings constructed in the Panama Park neighborhood located along the south side of
the Trout River north of Downtown Jacksonville. This two-story masonry building with
Prairie Style influences was constructed in c.1932 for the family of Lonnie B. &
Dorothea Bryan. Although having a recorded history dating to the Second Spanish
Period (1789-1821), Panama Park’s primary period of growth was during the first half of
the twentieth century when numerous plats were filed in the area defined in this report by
the Trout River to the north, the St. Johns River to the east, North Laura Street, Rolliston
Street (West 64" Street) and North Main Street to the west, with the southern boundary
being CSX railroad immediately south of East 54" Street. However, the strong identity
of the Panama Park neighborhood today is closely associated with George W. Clark’s
Panama Investment company’s Subdivision of Panama Park that was placed on the
market in 1909. Clark promoted his subdivision as a new upscale neighborhood located
in a convenient and scenic location, as well as protection of property value by restrictive
covenants. Although industrial uses have developed along the juncture of the St. Johns
River and the Trout River, as well as the introduction of commercial uses along North
Main Street, the residential sections of Panama Park, which are predominately single-
family, have remained stable.

HISTORIC CONTEXT - Panama Park

For the purposes of this historical context description, Panama Park is defined by the
Trout River to the north, the St. Johns River to the east, North Laura Street, Rolliston
Street (West 64" Street), and North Main Street to the west, and the southern boundary
being the CSX Railroad to the south of West 54™ Street. This area is composed of
approximately thirty different plats filed between 1878 and 1941. Most of these were
replats of various parts of Lawton’s Plat of Panama filed in 1878.

Land Grants and Settlement :;During the Colonial Period:
Early settlement of what became Duval County was greatly influenced by the issuing

of large land grants to encourage both settlement and economic development, a
practice started by the British and continued by the Spanish during their second
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Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District
Nomination Form Continuation Sheet :

Territorial Period and Civil War:

During the Territorial Period (1821-1845) and into early statehood, Jacksonville
entered a period of significant economic growth evident by the waterfront being
crowded with schooners loading lumber and naval stores from seven sawmills
stretched for a mile along the river front. The St. Johns River continued to play its
important role as the major thoroughfare connecting Jacksonville with numerous
settlements along the St. Johns River and its tributaries, as well as by 1850 with other
coastal communities such as Savannah. However, during the 1850s, business and
community leaders organized private companies for the purposes of building roads
and a railroad that connected Jacksonville with the interior of the state. In addition to
the construction of the Plank Road and the Alligator ﬁoagl, the western part of Duval
County was also opened by the Florida Atlanti¢: & Gulf Central Railroad that by 1860
connected Jacksonville with Alligator (Lake City). Jacksonville and Duval County
also served from numerous calamities during the 1850s that included s severe fire in
the business district of Downtown in 1854; two freezes that significantly destroyed
local citrus groves in J anuary of 1857, as well as a Yellow Fever epidemic in the
summer of that same year

During the Civil War, Jacksonville was strategically important to both the
Confederate and Union forces because of its location along the St. Johns River and
access to the state’s interior via the Old Plank and Alligator Roads. Further, the city
was connected to the interior by the recently completed Florida, Atlantic & Gulf
Central railroad that opened in 1860 connecting Jacksonville with Lake City.’
Jacksonville also had a strong group of Union sypathyers that provided a possible
political nucleus to bring the east part of Florida back into the Union. As a'\result, .
Jacksonville was occupied four times by Union forces that left the city in ruins by the
end of the war. Although harassed by Confederate sniper fire and threatenéd by
torpedoes, Union gunboats for the most part controlled the entire length of the St.
Johns River and tributaries during the war. Most of the military action durmg the war

occurred in the western part of Duval County, as well as along the river at Yellow
Bluff and St. Johns Bluff.®

During the fourth occupation of Jacksonville in 1864, Confederate General Pierre
Gustave Beauregard, Commander of the Southern Operation, recommended the
placement of a battery near the mouth of the Trout River in order to disrupt the Union

* Gold, pp. 122-126

5 T. Frederick Davis, History of Jacksonville. Florida and Vicinity, 1513-1924. (St. Augustine. Florida.
1925, 1990 reprint). pp. 341-342.

® Summary of Civil War in Duval County from Richard A. Martin and Daniel L. Schafer. Jacksomlle's

Ordeal by Fire. a Crvil War History (Jacksonville. Florida. Florida Publishing Company, 1984), and from
Gold’s History of Duval County.
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communication between Jacksonville and Mayport at the mouth of the river. This
recommended battery apparently was not constructed. However, the war came to the
Trout River area in July of 1864, when Union General William Birney was informed
that 2™ Florida Cavalry under Lieutenant Colonel A.H. McCormick had congregated
at the headwaters of the Trout Creek and sending mounted sentinels to patrol along
the river between Trout and Cedar Creeks. Landing at the mouth of the Trout River,
General Birney lead a force inland that included the Third U.S Colored Troops and
the 4™ Massachusetts Cavalry. Known as the Skirmish of Trout Creek, the union
forces engaged and drove back a party of Confederate cavalry for a ten mile stretch
along Trout Creek before reaching Higginbottom, a small community at the
headwaters of the Trout Creek. From there, a detachment of the Union forces raided
as far north as the Nassau River destroying property including Holmes Sawmill.

In the process of advancing on the Confederates at Higginbottom, Union soldiers
attacked and destroyed “Turner’s Place, the plantation on the north side of the Trout
River belonging to Lemural Turner (1831-1912). Coming to the area during the
Second Spanish period from Newberry, South Carolina, Edward and Sarah Turner,
the grandparents of Lem Turner, settled on a 640 acre land grant north of the Trout
River in 1790. At the time of the attack, Lem Turner was away serving in the
Confederate army, but his wife and child, as well as slaves, were at home and made a
quick escape. After the war, Lem Turner went on to become successful in timber and
land sales. Much of his properties were later sold and developed as new subdivisions
such as Lem Turner Park, Lake Forest Lake, Forest Hills, and Highlands. He also
operated a ferry across the Trout River, as well as opened a road to the ferry know at
that time as the Turner Ferry Road. Officially declared a state highway in 1927,
Turner Ferry Road, now Lem Turner Road, which runs from Moncrief Creek to the
county line, was expanded to a four-lane highway in 1963

Second Half of Nineteenth Century, 1878 — 1900.

The earliest recorded plat for Panama was filed by Winburn J. Lawton in 1878. Located
at the mouth of the Trout Creek and the St. Johns River, the plat was composed of fifty
three lots, most being 8.75 to 4.80 acres in size with a series of odd-shape parcels
fronting Trout Creek.® One of eleven children belonging to Benjamin Themistocles Dion
Lawton and Jane Mosse Lawton, Winborn Joseph Lawton was born in the Beaufort
District of South Carolina on September 18, 1818. Lawton married Harriet Sarah Jaudon

7 Florida Tunes Unton. Westside News, November 11, 1987, p 10

The Record News. Thursday, July 11, 1974, p. 8.

$ Plat of W J. Lawton’s Subdivision. AB-560, October, 1878 Topographic Section, Jacksonville
Department of Public Works.
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in April of 1839 in Savannah, Georgia.® With her death in March of 1849, Lawton
married Sarah E. Lewis of Russell County, Georgia in June of 1851.'°, They had four
children named Jessie Lawton, Mildred Lawton, Willie Anna Lawton, and Jane Mosse
Lawton, whom was named after W. Lawton’s mother.

Moving to the Macon area, Lawton was politically active later serving in the Georgia
legislature representing Bibb, Effingham, Dougherty and Screven Counties.''. Lawton
was also a member of the Confederate Army during the Civil War earning the rank of
Colonel. Lawton lived in various counties around the Macon area prior to moving to
Jacksonville, Florida in the 1870s. US Census records show Lawton residing in Macon,
Bibb County, Georgia in 1870' and in Jacksonville, Florida in 1880'. On May 16,
1877, Lawton’s daughter Willie Anna Lawton married Thomas Telfair Stockton of
Jacksonville, Florida'*. Lawton was not recorded on the 1890 census as he passed away
in Macon, Georgia in September of 1884. He is buried in the family plot at Rose Hill
Cemetery in Macon, Georgia.15 The 1878-79 city directories listed Winborn J. Lawton as
living at Panama Mills and was identified as secretary and Treasurer of the Sun and Press
Printing and Publishing Company, as well as involved in real estate and construction. In
1882, Lawton was a business partner of Baptist minister, Hugh B. McCallum who owned
the Daily Florida Union, the predecessor of the Florida Times Union.'® His obituary
stated that Lawton was also involved in railroad construction and was associated with the
Jacksonville, St. Augustine & Halifax Railroad that open in 1881 connecting Jacksonville
with St. Augustine.l

In 1873, the East Shell Road opened connecting East Jacksonville to the south with
Panama along the Trout River to the north. This toll road was constructed through the
efforts of Jacob Parker, who established the Town of Fairfield in East Jacksonville. In
later years, the East Shell Road was connected to the Panama Road that ran north-south
connecting the community with Downtown J acksonville.'® The East Shell Road and the

® Harriet S Jaudon may have been related to the family of Elias G. Jaudon who came to Florida in c.1838
from Hilton Head, South Carolina One of the founders of the Baptist Church in Jacksonville, Jaudon
settled on a 550 acre plantation in the Riverside area.

' R. Newton Wilcox. Marrages, deaths, accidents, duels, and runaways, etc * compiled from the Weekly
Georgia telegraph, Macon, Georgia, 2002.

" Ibid

'2U.S. Census. Bibb County, Georgia, 1870

'3 U.S. Census. Duval County, Florida, 1880.

" The National Cyclopedia of American Biography, 267.

'3 Rose Hill Cemetery. 2004, http //www rosehillcemetery.org/index.asp

' Jacksonville City Directories, 1878 & 79, p. 123: 1882, p. 120.

Thomas Graham, Charles H Jones. Journalist & Politician of the Gilded Age. (Tallahassee, Florida“
Florida A& M Umiversity Press, 1990), p. 19. Charles H. Jones purchased the paper in 1883 from H.B.
McCallum and a partner, who was probably Winburn Lawton

' Florida Tunes Union. September 9. 1884, p 44, C-2.

'8 Pine Street later called North Main Street followed much of the original route of the Panama Road.
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Panama Road created a ten-mile loop popular for scenic drives, and later for bicycle
racing. In later years, the East Shell Road was renamed to commemorate noted seasonal
resident in the area, Charles Maurice Camille, Marquis de Talleyrand. The Marquis was
a descendant of the famous French diplomat and public official, Charles Maurice
Talleyand-Perigord (1754-1838) who had a long and illustrious career that included
service during the French Revolution, Napoleon’s reign, the Bourbon restoration, as well
as the reign of Louis Philippe.

In 1869, Elizabeth marquise de Talleyrand-Perigord, American wife of the marquis, had
purchased a 30-acre parcel known as “Millwood”, on the south side of Long Branch
Creek where it empties into the St. Johns River. Talleyrand only occupied “Millwood”
for a few seasons and had sold the property by 1873." Originally constructed in the
1850’s, “Millwood” was the country estate for the family of lumber mill owner, James
Daniel, that included his son James Jaquelin Daniel (1832-1888), a well-known and
respected city leader who died during the tragic 1888 Yellow Fever epidemic. Although
eventually selling “Millwood” in the late 1860’s, James Jaquelin Daniel later purchased
an estate known as “Palermo” on the north side of Long Branch Creek that had formerly
been the family home of his wife, Emily L.’Engle. At the time of purchase in 1883 from
Dr. G. R. Hall, “Palermo” was a seventy acre estate with a fourteen room house,
surrounded by lush landscaping and a fifteen acre orange grove.

In 1895, the Jacksonville Wheelmen began discussion on acquiring a 135 acre parcel in
Panama Park to construct a bicycle track. In response to this interest, a group of
Jacksonville businessmen formed the Panama Park Company for the purposes of
acquiring property for sports facilities and real estate development.?’ After purchasing
the 130 acre parcel, the company planned to take 30 acres along the Trout River for
sports and amusement use, with the remaining 105 acres to the south platted into lots for
home sites. The upper thirty acres would be split with recreational facilities such as
bicycle track, road house, casino, bowling alley, and other amusements on the east side of
the railroad track and a more family oriented park on the west side of the track.”! The
thirty acre parcel included a large residence with a cottage and barn that was going to be
converted into a roadhouse.”

The company issued $100,000 in stock for the purchase and development of the track and
associated facilities, as well as the drilling of an artisan well. $40,000 of the stock went
to the property owner for purchase of the parcel. Opened by the summer of 1896, the

' Richard A. Martin, The City Makers (Jacksonville. Convention Press, Inc, 1972), pp.17-18. 172, 177.
Craig, p 45

 The Board of Directors of the Panama Park Club included Church Anderson, A.B Campbell, A.W.
Cockrell Jr. Montgomery Corse, William A. Bell, B.F Dillon, L. Furchgott. G. R. Pride, C.C. Roberts. A.
D. Stevens, R. W Simms, P. Walter & W.S Ware.

*! Florida Times Union. August 10, 1895, p. 3. C-5; October 11. 1895.p 8.C-1

* This residence may have later been used to house the Panama Club at 460 Trout River Boulevard
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new track was a duplicate of the famous Fountain Ferry Track in Louisville, Kentucky,
considered the fastest in the nation. The goal of the Panama Company was to sale
enough building lots to pay for the bonds. The Panama Park track hosted several
significant races during the summer of 1896 including one on August 27 that attracted
over 2,000 spectators with half being from out of the city. With the goal of attracting
world class bicyclist, the track was sanctioned to host races for the purpose of breaking
world speed records from one mile to ten miles.”> The new sports facility at Panama Park
appeared not to be financially successful resulting in the parcel reverting back to the
previous owner or purchased by a new one. In early 1897, the Jacksonville Wheelmen
attempted to purchase the track, grandstands, and other facilities, but was apparently not
successful.?* The track, also referred to as the cycledrome, may have been part of the
“failed amusement Park” identified by George W. Clark in his promotional brochure for
Panama Park (c.1908).”° Interestingly, Clark was the local bicycle manufacturer and/or
distributor for the Clark Flyer and Clark Special in 1898. 2

Another early road in the area that dates to the nineteenth century is Main Street, also
called Pine Street until 1888, which connected Downtown with Panama at the mouth
of the Trout Rivers, as well as connected with the East Shell Road (Talleyrand
Avenue) making a continuous loop known as the “Ten-Mile Drive”, popular for
bicycle and carriage excursions. The West Shell Road or Moncrief Road connected
with Main or Pine Street via West Eighth Street. Main or Pine Street had followed
the general route of the earlier Panama Road that served as the major entry in the city
from the north. During the early 1900s, residents of Panama petitioned the County
Commissioners to extend the “rock road”, North Main Street, up to the Trout River
drawbridge. At the time, most of North Main Street above Evergreen Cemetery was
paved with shell. Residential construction north of Downtown, particularly in
Springfield, was greatly stimulated by the opening of a streetcar line in 1882 that ran
from Bay Street, up Pine (Main Street) to Eighth Street.

The physical character of much of the areas north and northwest of Downtown
Jacksonville was also shaped during the nineteenth century by railroad construction.
In 1874, the Fernandina & Jacksonville Railroad was incorporated and started
construction of a line in 1880 from Hart’s Road (Yulee) in Nassau County to
Jacksonville. At Hart’s Road, the line connected with the Atlantic, Gulf, & West
India Transit Company which operated a line between Fernandina Beach and Cedar
Key on the Gulf Coast. Once over the Trout River, the railroad continued south to the
east of Springfield before reaching the waterfront near the mouth of Hogans Creek.

3 The track apparently attracted world class riders and evident by George N Adams establishing a world
record for 3 to 10 mile bicycle racing at Panama Park on July 17, 1896

* Florida Tumes Union, January 11, 1896. p. 5. C-1. January 19, 1896. p. 6. C-5: July 14.. 1896. p. 8, C-2,
August 27, 1896. p. 5. C-1: January 1, 1897.p 8,C-1.

* George W Clark Co.. Real Estate, A Trip to Panama Park (Jacksonville, FL, c. 1908). pp. 17-25

% The Wheelmen Website — list of bicycle manufacturers and distributors
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After being under different owners and going into receivership, the Fernandina &
Jacksonville Railroad became part of the extensive Seaboard Airline Railroad in
1903. After crossing the Trout River, the Fernandina & Jacksonville Railroad had a -
passenger and freight stop in the Panama community, also called Panama Mills. In
1881, the company was allowed by the City of Jacksonville to extend their lines south
to cross Bay Street on the eastside of McCoy’s Creek. Although extended to mainly
haul logs to Henry Clark’s large sawmill located between Hogan’s Creek and Water
Street, the line provided daily passenger service from its station near Hogans Creek in
Downtown Jacksonville.”

In 1899, the St. Johns Terminal Company was established under the ownership of
Walter Ferguson of New York who was also a partner in the Atlantic, Valdosta &
Western Railroad. Later becoming part of the Southern Railway Company, this line
was allowed to operate along the waterfront between Catherine Street west to Bay
Street in association with the Atlantic, Valdosta, & Western Railroad and later
expanded to connect with the short line that served the new municipal docks along
Talleyrand Avenue.?”® Another line associated with the Panama community was the
Jacksonville and Southwest Railroad that opened in 1899 connecting Newberry in
Alachua County with the Cummer Sawmill at Sand Fly Point at the mouth of Trout
River and the St. Johns River.

The sawmill and adjacent small community known as Milldale were under the
ownership of Wellington Wilson Cummer. Born in Toronto, Canada in 1846, W.W.
Cummer moved to Michigan in 1860 where he started a lumber business in 1871 and
later opened a plant near Cadillac, Michigan in 1876. Investing in southern
timberland by 1890, W. W. Cummer moved his family to Duval County in 1896
where he built a large lumber and crate plant at Milldale. Although providing
passenger service, this standard gauge one hundred mile railroad was constructed
primarily to transport lumber and later phosphate from the Newberry area to the
sawmill and docks at Milldale. The line was sold in 1903 and become part of the
Atlantic Coast Line system in 1904.° The Cummer Mill became one of the largest
employers in Duval County with a labor force of 1,150 workers. In 1907, the river
channel was dredged to 24 feet which allowed for the company to build facilities for
shipping phosphate to Europe.™

Although to the south of Panama, another significant institution to develop in the area
during the 1880s was Evergreen Cemetery. With the Old City Cemetery in Oakland
near Downtown not able to serve the growing community, the Jacksonville Cemetery

T Davis pp. 344 & 345; Gold, pp. 178-179.

2 Gold, pp. 184 & 185; Davis, pp. 343-348, 372-375 & 378.

» Gold, pp. 186 & 457; Davis. p 348.

30 James B Crooks, Jacksonville after the Fire. 1901-1919. A New South City. (Jacksonville, Fl: University
of North Florida Press. 1991), pp. 29, 65-66.
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Association was founded in 1880 for purpose of establishing a new cemetery. Under
the leadership of its president, James Jaquelin Daniel, the association purchased two
hundred acres of high ground immediately north of Long Branch Creek between the
fashionable Springfield neighborhood and the new subdivision to the north called
Panama Park. With additional property donated by the Daniel family, Evergreen
Cemetery began accommodating burials in 1881 that later included the relocation of
the graves of some of Jacksonville’s pioneer families such as that of Isaiah D. Hart,
recognized as the founder of Jacksonville. In 1899, Charles Clark opened the forty-
one acre Woodlawn Cemetery to the west of Evergreen, which was purchased in 1912
by the Evergreen Cemetery Association. In 1881, the Catholic Diocese of St.
Augustine purchased a twenty-acre tract from the Evergreen Cemetery Directors for
the purpose of establishing a separate Catholic burial ground known as St. Mary’s
Cemetery. In 1976, the Evergreen Cemetery Association officially acquired St.
Mary’s Cemetery. In addition to containing a significant collection of monuments,
crypts, and gravestones, Evergreen Cemetery, which currently has approximately
60,000 graves, is the final resting places for four U.S. Senators, four Governors, as
well as 3c{ther noted individuals in government, commerce, military, and community
service.

Descriptions of Panama during the 1880s highlighted its easy accessibility due its railroad
depot, as well as being “intersected by the most popular drives from the city, being the
terminus of the East Jacksonville Shell Road and the Pine Street sawdust road”. This
convenient accessibility was also enhanced by steam boats that stopped at Panama during
their travels up and down the St. Johns River. There was also talk at the time of
extending the street car line beyond Evergreen Cemetery to Panama. The community
was described as having a store, church, and school, as well as telephone connections
with Jacksonville. Consistent with other communities along the St. Johns River during
this time, Panama was also recognized for its citrus production including a very old tree
on the old Sibbald mill site that produced 4,000 to 5,000 oranges each year. In addition
to numerous new residences, a boarding house and hotel were being contemplated for the
community.”> The first post office in Panama was opened in June of 1880 originally
under the name Wild Fall. Later changed to Panama, this post office had closed by
February of 1881. A new post office under the name, Panama Park, was established in
1885, and served the community until 1919**. In 1882, a Times reporter visited the area

' Martin, pp. 176-177

Wood, p. 377

Lucy Ames Edwards, Grave Markers of Duval County, 1808-1916. Jacksonville. Florida, 1955, p. 145
* Wanton S. Webb, Editor and Compiler Webb's Historical, Industrial and Biograplucal Florida Part |
(New York: W.S. Webb & Co., Publishers, 1885), p. 193.

James Esgate. Jacksonville. The Metropolis of Florida (Boston, MA, 1885). pp 26-27.

Martin, p 177.

Y Alfred G Bradlay, A Chronology of Florida Post Offices. (The Florida Federation of Stamp Clubs.
1962).p 64
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and wrote, “Panama Park is one of the loveliest spots in Florida. Situated on high rolling

pine land, with the waters of Trout River on one side and those of the St. Johns on the

other, and fanned by cool sea breezes coming over an unbroken stretch of twelve miles of
”34

water . . .

In the summer of 1888, Jacksonville was paralyzed with an outbreak of yellow fever that
crippled the economy and resulted in the death of 427 people. With a rigid quarantine
established against Jacksonville, many citizens who had left the city had to be housed in
refugee camps located in the outlying areas. These refuge camps included Camp Perry
along the St. Marys River at Boulogne, Camp Mitchell located seven miles west of the
city, Camp Howard located two miles north of the city limits, and the “Sands Hills
Hospital” just beyond Camp Howard. Reportedly located near the current site of the
Gateway Mall, the “Sands Hills Hospital” was actually constructed earlier to serve as an
emergency medical facility after a smallpox scare in 1883. Reportedly many of the
casualties from the 1888 yellow fever epidemic were buried in graves located near the
“Sands Hills Hospital”. Although there is no physical presence of these graves, it has
been reported through oral sources over the years that construction in the Gateway Mall
area has resulted in the discovery of human remains associated with the yellow fever
epidemic.35

In 1896, the Jacksonville Board of Trade petitioned to host the state military
encampment at Panama Park with the possibility of making it a permanent camp.
The yearly encampments usually drew over one thousand soldiers which made a
significant economic impact on the host city. A committee from the Board of Trade
pitched the convenience of Jacksonville which was within one hundred miles of
twelve of the twenty companies in Florida, as well as served by many of the state’s
railroads. Further the encampment would be on property belonging to the Panama
Park Company which had already opened an artisan well. Although not successful,
the attempt to host the encampment did foster the support for extending the “rock
road” (Main Street) north to Panama Park.* Apparently, the Duval County Board of
Commissioners was slow to respond resulting in a petition in 1905 signed by three
hundred Panama Park residents requesting the improvement of North Main Street up
to the Trout River drawbridge.”

When the Spanish-American War broke out in 1898, early military activity centered
on Tampa which became a training camp and embarkation point. Overtaxing the
infrastructure, particularly the railroads, the War Department began to look for new
campsites outside of Tampa. With support and encouragement of the business

* Martin

** Davis, pp 180-186.

Martin, p. 145.

3 Elorida Tunes Union, February 21, 1896,p 5 -1
*? Florida Times Union. May 3, 1905.p.5 -3
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community, the War Department designated Jacksonville as a mobilization center.
The site chosen for a camp was the area immediately east of Springfield along lonia
Street between East Third Street and East Eight Street. Headquarters for the 7th
Army Corp under Major General Fitzhugh Lee, nephew of Robert E. Lee, the camp
was called Camp Cuba Libre. Starting with the 2™ Illinois and 1%, Wisconsin that
arrived on May 22, 1898, the troop strength at Camp Cuba Libre progressively
increased to well over 32,000 soldiers by September of 1898. The 3. Nebraska,
which arrived July 22, 1898 and encamped at Pablo Beach, was under three-time
presidential candidate, Colonel William Jennings Bryan (1860-1925), “The Great
Commoner”.

With so many soldiers housed in temporary camp facilities, the conditions were ripe
for the outbreak and spread of commutable disease. With the outbreak of Typhoid
Fever, which was recorded as early as late May, 1898, some of the troops were
moved from the original East Springfield site, which was poorly drained and wet
from heavy rains, to higher grounds on the west side of Springfield, around 5™ Street
and Silver Street, as well as to areas north of Evergreen Cemetery, and to Panama
Park along the Trout River. The Typhoid Fever outbreak drew national attention
resulting in fact finding visits to Camp Cuba Libra by such noted figures as Clara
Barton, Major Walter Reed, Secretary of War, Russell J. Algiers, as well as several
governors with troops stationed in the City. The number of sick soldiers so taxed the
three divisional hospitals, the convalescent hospital at Pablo Beach, and St. Luke’s
Hospital that additional care had to be provided in private homes. The troops began
departure in early September, with Camp Cuba Libre being officially closed in
January of 1899. The severity of the Typhoid Fever epidemic in Camp Cuba Libre is
reflected in the fact that 362 soldiers died in Jacksonville from the illness compared to
the 385 military personnel that died from action during the entire war.’®

Twentieth Century:

After the Great Fire of May 3, 1901, suburban growth began to accelerate following
the extension of the streetcar lines. With the expansion of the Main Street line, the
Jacksonville Street Railway Company opened Phoenix Park along the St. Johns River
just north of Long Branch Creek. Opened in September of 1901, the purpose of the
park was to encourage weekend use of the streetcars. The name for the park was
comned by Mrs. F.O. Brown, wife of the President of the streetcar company, to
commemorate Jacksonville's rise from the Great Fire of 1901. The park was reached
by streetcar along North Main Street, east on Eighth Street and north on Fisher

8 Wood. pp. 99, 173-174.

Davis, pp 209-215

Richard A. Martin. A Century of Service. St Luke's Hospital, 1873-1973 Jacksonville. 1973, pp. 110-
121
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Avenue, now Phoenix Avenue, cross Long Branch Creek to the river front site.
Phoenix Park was expanded over the years to include an amusement park, dance
pavilion, grandstand, and baseball diamond. In 1903, Connie Mack's Philadelphia
Athletics had their spring training at Phoenix Park. The popular Florida Ostrich
Farm, which was located in Fairfield, moved to Phoenix Park and expanded its
animal collection to become the Florida Ostrich and Alligator Farm. After the Florida
Ostrich and Alligator Farm moved to South Jacksonville and later to St. Augustine,
Phoenix Park began to decline as a recreational destination, and was sold to an oil
company for industrial use.”®

However, around the same time, the industrial character of the area particularly along
Talleyrand Avenue was being established. In 1912, the City of Jacksonville, after
acquiring control of the electric light franchise in 1911, constructed a new $635,000
municipal power plant along the St. Johns River off Talleyrand Avenue north of East
Eighth Street. The original 1894 electric plant at Waterworks Park was converted
into a substation.*” With most of the docks along Downtown Jacksonville being in
private ownership, which jeopardized continued federal support for port
improvements, the Board of Trade was able to petition the State Legislature to pass
an enabling act for a bond issue to construct municipally owned docks and terminals.
In January of 1913, a $1,500,000 bond issue was approved by the voters that
established a Port Commission.*’ The Port Commission acquired 144 acres along
Talleyrand Avenue near the present intersection with East Eighth Street. Starting in
1914, a mile of swampy river front property was filled to prepare for the construction
of two 260" wide piers that extended 1000 feet into the river. A City owned and
operated terminal railroad connected the new docks with the existing lines located
east of Springfield. Completed in 1916, the municipal docks proved to be successful,
and were being expanded by the 19207s.*

Although reportedly having a population of one thousand in 1905, Panama Park grew
significantly after the Panama Investment Company under George W. Clark
purchased a large part of the old Lawton’s Subdivision which was replatted and
marketed as a new upscale neighborhood.®’ George W. Clark and his brother,

* Pavis, 229

Crooks, p. 105

The Florida Times Union. “Jacksonville was too Distracting to be Rube’s Spring Training Site™. March 13,
1994, B-5

River City News. Florida Times Union, “Ostriches in their Own Fairyland™, January 5, 2000, 2-W.

“ Davis, 324.

*'Ibid. p.290.

** Crooks. pp. 66-67.

George E. Buker. Jacksonville. Riverport — Seaport. (Columbia- University of South Carolina Press.
1992). pp 153-154

* Duval County Courthouse. Plat Book 6 . pp.81-82, 1916, Panama Investment Company s Subdivision of
Panama Park
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Charles A. Clark came to Jacksonville in 1873 from their home in Campbellford,
Ontario, Canada. George Clark purchased a large parcel in northwest Springfield
where he started a2 small farm. Both brothers were undertakers and started working
with Calvin Oak, who operated a funeral home as well as sold monuments and
furniture. George and Charles Clark purchased the business from Calvin Oak, with
George selling his part of the company to Charles before returning to Canada for a
short time. On returning to Jacksonville, George Clark started his own funeral home
under the name, Clark & Burns*.

Eventually selling the business to S.A. Kyle and Harry A. Moulton, George Clark
established a real estate company that first developed family property around northwest
Springfield before investing in Panama Park.® In 1907, He built the five-story Clark
Building at the northeast corner of North Main Street and East Monroe Street in
Downtown Jacksonville. This multi-use building was designed by noted Jacksonville
architect, Henry John Klutho, who also designed Clark’s Prairie Style residence at 2059
Riverside Avenue in 1911. Both landmark buildings have been demolished.*

The fifty acre parcel that was platted as Panama Investment Company’s Subdivision
of Panama Park was located on both sides of North Main Street and came to a point
where the Trout River Bridge crossed. This plat was defined by the Trout River to
the north, Lawton Avenue and West 63", Street on the south, Oakwood Street on the
east, and both sides of North Laura Street between the Trout River and West 63",
Street to the west. Around 1908, Clark produced a brochure highlighting all the
attributes of Panama Park starting with its scenic and convenient location. In addition
to four daily stops at the Panama Park depot which provided passenger, freight, and
telegraph services, the community was also connected to Jacksonville by two paved
roads, Main Street and Talleyrand Avenue, as well as a street car line in nearby
Phoenix Park. Further, the Mayport river boat made two daily stops at the Panama
Park pier. The company ran a bus every thirty minutes from the end of the street line
at Phoenix Park to Panama Park.

The lots, which were predominately 50’ x 100’ in size, were well shaded by over
8,000 mature trees including oaks, magnolia, cedar, pine and palm trees and cooled
by breezes from the St Johns River and the Trout River which also provided great
opportunities for fishing, boating, and swimming. Other improvements included
grading of lots and streets for appropriate drainage, paving of all roads, the

* Prim W. Fisher. History of the Rotary Club of Jacksonville. (Jacksonville. Florida, 1962), pp. 1& 2.

The Florida Tunes Union. March 14, 1939, p. |
> Moulton & Kyle Funeral Home at 17 West Union Street is generally recognized as the oldest business in
continuous operation in Jacksonville. It was opened by Calvin Oak 1n 1856, continued under the ownership
of George and Charles Clark. and eventually becoming Moulton & Kyle (Wood, p. 83)
“® Robert C Broward. The Arclutecture of Henry John Klutho. The Prairie School in Jacksonville
(Jacksonvilie, FL, University of North Florida Press, 1983), pp.73-75, 120
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construction of a pier and bulkhead along the Trout River, a sewage system, potable
water from an artesian well that by 1930 produced 750,000 gallons a day, as well as a
gas and electric light plant, ice factory, and street cleaning service. The company also
constructed a 1,000 foot long by 50 foot wide boat canal by dredging a nearby marsh,
and using the spoil to create additional lots or expand existing ones. This canal was
constructed immediately to the west of lots fronting North Laura Street.

As evident by the brochure, Clark promoted Panama Park as an exclusive upscale
community where “the convenience of city life will be combined with the pleasures
of country life”.*” Future plans included a tourist hotel, club house, yacht anchorage,
auto garages, and nearby businesses along North Main Street. In addition to allowing
only residences that cost at a minimum $2,500 to at least $5,000 for houses along
Riverside Drive, the development was also protected by restrictive covenants. Theses
restrictions, which were binding for ten years, included a 25 foot front setback, and
prohibited stables, outhouses or fences within this setback; as well as prohibited
livery stables, public automobile garages, and blacksmith shops; the manufacture,
storage or sale of alcoholic beverages; and the keeping of cattle, hogs, sheep, mules,
and free-range chickens. Houses had to be connected to the sewerage system at the
time of occupancy with a concrete sidewalk along the front being constructed within
one year of occupancy.48 Although lots in Panama Park officially went on the market
in 1909 and 1910, several residences had already been constructed. One noted in the
brochure was the $9,000 brick residence of Dr. C.E. McKinnon at 6 West 68" Street.

Both before and after the Panama Investment Company’s development, other parts of
the earlier Lawton’s Subdivision were also being replatted, as well as new plats in the
surrounding area. Replatting of the larger Lawton’s Subdivision started as early as
1909 with the replatting of lot six by Charles Leidy, followed in 1910 by the a re-plat
of lots 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, and 46 of Lawton’s Subdivision.** This latter subdivision
included property from North Main Street east to Bloxham Avenue and from Lawton
Avenue south to East 51% Street. Another large subdivision south of Lawton’s Replat
was Panama Gardens developed by the State Investment Company under James R.
Stockton, president, and J.F. LeMaster, Secretary. Platted in 1923, this subdivision
did not follow the old square grid plan, but included a long circular street intersected
with two short straight streets all fronted with lots of varying sizes and shapes.”
Panama Gardens was bounded by North Main Street on the west and the railroad on

“T Clark, p. 23.

¥ Other descriptions of George Clark's development at Panama Park include “Panama Park,” Jacksonville,

Florida. (University of Florida Digital Library Center), Florida Heritage Collection;

Part of unpublished paper by Wells & Fuller, University of Florida. Panama Park Neighborhood File -
Jacksonville Planning and Development Department.

* Duval County Courthouse. Plat Book 3. p. 46, Leidy’s Subdivision of Lot 6, Lawton’s Subdivision
(1909); Plat Boak 3. p. 76, Re-plat of Lots 41, 42, 43. 44, 45, & 46 of Lawton's Subdivision (1910).
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 8, p 37, Panama Gardens (1923).
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the east, and East 63" Street south to East 55 Street. This is one of the numerous
subdivisions in the Panama Park section associated the Stockton family, pioneer real
estate developer. Others included Telfair Stockton’s Subdivision of Lots 27 and 28
and Stockton’s Subdivision of Lot 36 and part of Lot 37 Lawton’s Subdivision.
Platted in 1921, both subdivisions are located on the eastside of the railroad track
from Panama Gardens’'. Immediately to the south of Panama Gardens is a small one
street subdivision called Main Street Heights platted in 1912 and replatted in 1938 as
Westside Land Company’s Replat of Main Street Heights.”

Sandwiched on the north by Stockton’s Subdivision and on the south by Telfair
Stockton’s Subdivision are Buffalo Gardens and First addition to Buffalo Gardens
platted in 1925 and 1926 respectively.”® Buffalo Gardens was platted by the Phillips-
Malcolm Realty Company under H.L. Phillips and Samuel W. Malcolm with the First
Addition being later platted by E.L. and Anna Henry. Further to the south of Buffalo
Gardens was Miller’s Buffalo Gardens platted in 1936 by A. R. & Edith E. Miller,
who later filed a Second Addition to Miller’s Buffalo Gardens in 1939.>* These four
subdivisions along with the two associated with Telfair Stockton reflected continued
residential growth into the area from the railroad east to Buffalo Avenue. This
residential growth was stimulated by continued port and industrial related businesses
along the waterfront. Immediately to the east of Clark’s Panama Park Subdivision
were eight smaller plats filed between 1909 and 1941, all located north of the
Stockton Subdivision to the Trout River and south to Sand Fly Point. The eight
include Ellis & Nunn’s Subdivision, 1909 (bk 3 p. 31); Woodville, 1912 (bk. 4, p.
71); Charles E. Bell’s Subdivision, 1921 (bk. 7, p. 39); Buffalo Subdivision, 1922
(bk. 8, p. 12); Shiferdek Park, 1925 (bk. 15, p. 73); Oakwood Estates, 1941 (bk 17, p.
51); Phillips Court, 1941 (bk. 17, p. 36); Robert P. Nelsm’s Subdivision, 1941 (bk.
17, p. 54).

The four property owners of Sand Fly Point, which included Stephen E. Foster, E.S.
Spencer, Charles Bell, and the Cummer Lumber Company, joined together in 1907 to
file a plat for their parcels.”® Mainly occupied by the Cummer Lumber Company, the
Sand Fly Point Subdivision was bounded by the St. Johns River to the east, Trout
River to the north, the Shell Road (Evergreen Avenue) to the west, and Phoenix Park
property to the south. Both Spencer and Bell later filed small residential subdivisions

5! Duval County Courthouse. Plat Book 7, p. 42 Telfair’s Stockton Subdivision and p 43, Stockton's
Subdivision, 1921.

>* Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book Book p 86, 1912, Main Street Heights: Plat book 16, p. 24, 1938,

Westside Land Company’s Replat of Main Street Heights.

33 Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 11, p. 6. 1925, Buffalo Gardens; Plat Book 12, P. 62. 1926, First
Addition to Buffalo Gardens

* Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 15. pp. 4 & 5. 1936, Miller’s Buffalo Gardens. Platbaok 16.p 64,

1939, A replat of the Second Addition to Miller’s Buffalo Gardens
% Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 2. p 83. 1907, Sand Fly Pount
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along Buffalo Avenue to the west of Sand Fly Point.>® Platted in 1905, Spencer-
Whittaker Subdivision of Lot 21, Lawton’s Subdivision was a single street running
between Buffalo Avenue and Cummer Street (closed). Charles E. Bell filed two plats
on the west side of Evergreen Avenue with Bell’s Subdivision being platted in 1920
(bk. 7, p. 23) and Charles E. Bell’s Subdivision in 1919 (bk. 5. p. 60). Immediately to
the south of the Spencer & Whittaker Subdivision was the Gifford & Knight
Subdivision platted in 1909 and fronting the south side of 56™ Street from Buffalo
Avenue to Evergreen Avenue.’’ To the northwest of Sand Fly Point were two
subdivisions, Elkins Subdivision of Lot 15 of Lawton’s (1907, bk. 2, p. 85) and
Elkins Subdivision f the West %2 of Lot 15 of Lawton’s (1915, bk. 6, p. 55), that were
filed by Caroline F. Elkins. The other two subdivisions platted northwest of Sand Fly
Point included Nelm’s Subdivision of Lot 44 (1908, bk. 3, p. 16) and H.L. Laubach
Replat of Lot 17 of Lawton’s Subdivision (1912, bk. 5, p. 36).

After the Great Fire of 1901, Duval County and Jacksonville experienced a
phenomenal increase in population which grew from 39,733 in 1900 to 113, 540 by
1920. Much of this growth during the first quarter of the twentieth century occurred
in the fast growing suburbs that circled the core city on the north, west, and
southwest. In order to broaden the tax base and provide adequate infrastructure to
outlying areas, the City of Jacksonville annexed eleven square miles that included a
diverse group of neighborhoods including Panama Park, Murray Hill, Fairfax, Ortega,
Woodstock, Grand Park, Royal Terrace, 45" & Moncrief, and Lake Forest. In 1931,
a .22 square mile parcel associated with the Cummer Mills was also incorporated into
the city. This small parcel was defined by Evergreen Avenue on the west, the St.
Johns River on the east, Trout River on the north, and Long Branch Creek on the
south.”® The growing communities were being served by their own schools,
churches, and parks.

In a 1904 newspaper article, citizens of Panama Park were complaining about their
school which was describes as being, “the same old shack which is scarcely suitable
for a bamn, the windows being broken out and the house in a generally dilapidated
condition”.** Although the location of this school is not known, the 1905 plat of the
Spencer — Whittaker subdivision depicted a public school at the northeast corner of
Buffalo Avenue and East 56™ Street. The population in Panama Park had sufficiently
grown to warrant a new school as part of a million dollar bond issue in 1915 for the
construction of twenty new schools. Opening in 1916 at 580 Lawton Avenue, the
new Panama Park School was designed by noted Jacksonville architect, Henry John

Klutho. The school has been identified as one of the last great Prairie Style designs

* Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book, 2, p. 50. 1905,Spencer & Whittaker Subdivision; Plat Book 5, p
60. 1919, Charles E. Bell's Subdivision and Bell’s Subdivsion, Plat Book 7, p.23, 1920.

57 Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 3, p 25. 1909. Gifford & Knight Subdivision.

8 Jacksonville Planning and Development Department, Population — Vertical File.

* Flonda Times Union, July 23, 1904, p. 5
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by Henry John Klutho and ranks as one of the most architecturally significant schools
in Duval County. A noted feature of the building’s front fagade is two central towers
topped with terra cotta eagles and distinctive Klutho-style ornamentation.’® The
school was later renamed in honor of its long-time principal, Lola Culver.

After annexing Panama Park in 1925, the City of Jacksonville purchased ten acres in
1929 from local developer Charles E. Bell. Located on the west side of Buffalo
Avenue between East 59" Street and East 60" Street, the ten acres was broken into
two separate parks with a seven acre section called Panama Park having active
recreational facilities such as baseball fields and playground with the remaining three
acres known as Buffalo Park being a more passive facility. With consolidation of the
city and county in 1968, the two parks were combined and collectively called Panama
Park.®’ Some of the early churches founded in the Panama Park area included Union
Church (1884-1908) on Lawton Avenue; Main Street Methodist Church (1932)
earlier called Lawton Avenue Methodist Church (1902-1908) and Phoenix Park
Methodist Church (1908-1931) North Main Street at East 59" Street; Phoenix Baptist
Church (1908) Evergreen Avenue and East 56™ Street; Panama Gospel Mission
(1935) 7125 Bloxham Avenue; and Church of the Nazarene (1935) 6951 Buffalo
Avenue.%?

A noted Jacksonville institution originated in Panama Park when the Home Hope
Haven Children’s Hospital opened in a large house at 460 Trout River Boulevard.
Reportedly named by one of its young patients, Hope Haven originally focused on
malnutrition widespread among the city’s youth, but shifted towards addressing
children crippled by polio, the first such hospital in the South. Outgrowing its
Panama Park facilities, Hope Haven Children’s Hospital moved to a new campus on
Atlantic Boulevard in 1940. With the development and widespread distribution of the
Salk and Sabin vaccines as an effective prevention for polio, Hope Haven became a
general children’s hospital that later merger with Nemours Children’s Hospital.63 The
former Hope Haven Hospital building in Panama Park was turned into a nursing
home until 1945 when became the Grant Haven Convalescent Home & Sanitarium.
Licensed as a psychiatric hospital in 1958, Grant Haven continued to operate until
1970 but was forced to close because of more stringent hospital regulations, and
rising operation cost.®*

% Wood, p 371.
Broward, pp. 210-214
® Recreation & Community Services Web Site, Panama Park. (www.coj.net)
8 Works Progress Administration. Guide to Supplementary Vital Statistics From Church Records in
Florida The Florida Historical Records Survey. 1942, pp. 222, 241, 248, 254, & 256
8 Flornida Tumes Unmion. May 1, 1994, B-4.. September 7. 1970, p. B-2. 1-6
% Florida Times Union. September 7, 1970, p B-2, 1-6
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The administrator of the facility at the time, Cullen Fuller, stated in the 1970

newspaper article that the old building that housed both Hope Haven and Grant
‘ Haven had been constructed in 1885 and for a short period was used as the Panama

Club. Described by police officers in 1914 as “Jacksonville’s undisputed hot spot”,
) the Panama Club was a roadhouse that reportedly drew such luminaries as Evelyn

Nesbit Thaw, the Girl in the Red Velvet Swing” Bud Fisher, who the drew the Mutt
& Jeff cartoons, and Englishman, Carlyle Blackwell. A Broadway Chorus Girl,
model, and actress, Evelyn Nesbit Thaw had a notorious affair with Stanford White, a
partner in the nationally recognized New York architectural firm of McKim, Mead, &
White. As a result of the affair, White was shot and killed in 1906 by Harry K. Thaw,
the jealous husband of Evelyn Nesbit Thaw. Carlyle Blackwell was a silent film
actor that worked for Vitagraph Studios in South Jacksonville, and made 180 films
before his career ended with the development of “talkies”. Managed by William P.
Pearce, who probably lived on site, the Panama Club probably closed with the start of
World War 1 and the passage of the Volstead Act in 1919 establishing national
prohibition.65

Because of its strategic location at the mouth of the St. Johns River and the Trout
River, Panama Park was also home to a controversial quarantine station that opened
in 1938. Because of its location close to populated neighborhoods, the City Health
Department opposed the site and preferred the facility be constructed at Mayport.
However, the U.S. Public Health Department purchased 4.2 acre site on Sand Fly
. Point for construction of the six buildings that made up the complex. Under the
direction of Louis A. Simon, U. S. Treasury Department’s supervising architect, the
six masonry buildings included an office and storage building, two dwellings, boat
‘ house with wharf, storage building, and garage. Sailors entering the Jacksonville port
with contagious diseases were required to stay at the quarantine station until declared
well enough to not be a public health risk. After being closed down, the Quarantine
l Station housed the City of Jacksonville’s fire boat, before the site along with the
neighboring Geis Marine Technology Center, was sold for the expansion of the U.S.
Gypsum Company in 1999.%

The scenic and tranquil character of North Main Street began to change significantly
when made part of the Dixie Highway that ran from Maine to Miami with various
; connections including the Old Spanish Trail (U.S. Highway 90) that ran west to New
Orleans and beyond. With construction starting in the second decade of the twentieth
century, Dixie Highway (State Road # 4, U.S. 17) entered Duval County via Folkston
i and connected cities and towns such Hillard, Callahan, Jacksonville, St. Augustine,

65
l " Ibid.

The Panama Club may have possibly continued during prohibition as a speakeasy

* Jacksonville Building Permit # 681. 1937: Jacksonville Journal, November 12. 1936, Florida Tines
i Union. November 10, 1999, B-|
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Bunnell, Daytona Beach, Titusville, Fort Pierce, West Palm Beach, and Fort
Lauderdale. The highway was heavily used during the Florida Land Boom of the
1920s when over 150,000 automobiles crossed over the St. Johns River Bridge (St.
Elmo Acosta Bridge) in the spring of 1925. To improve travel, the old Trout River
drawbridge was placed with a new structure in 1927. This new bridge was designed
by T.B. Carrick, Duval County Bridge Engineer who was also responsible for the
design of the Ortega River Bridge, as well as numerous others in the county. The
hallmarks of Carrick’s design were the use of the Maltese cross guide rails, and
decorative gatehouses. By 1956 over 15, 000 vehicles traveled over the bridge each
day which warranted a replacement bridge completed in 1958.57 With increase travel,
North Main Street became home to several building types such as drive-in
restaurants, gas stations, motels, tourist cabins, and auto camp grounds that developed
with the growing popularity and ownership of automobiles. Most of this tourist
traffic along North Main Street was reduced with the opening of the Jacksonville
Expressway System, which was incorporated as part of 1-95.%

SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPOSED LANDMARK AS RELATED TO

DESIGNATION CRITERIA:

A. Its value as a significant reminder of the cultural, historical, architectural, or

archaeological heritage of the City, state or nation.

The subject property at 7836 North Laura Street has significance as one of the high
quality residences being built before World War II in the Panama Park neighborhood
along the south side of the Trout River north of Downtown Jacksonville. In
developing the historical context as part of the landmark designation application,
Panama Park is defined by the Trout River to the north, the St. Johns River to the
east, North Laura Street, Rolliston Street (West 64™ Street) and North Main Street to
the west, with the southern boundary being the CSX railroad immediately south of
East 54™ Street. This two-story masonry building with Prairie Style influences was
constructed in ¢.1932 for the family of Lonnie B. and Dorothea Bryan. The Panama
Park neighborhood has not been systematically surveyed for the presence of historic
resources, therefore, the actual number, age, and styles of historic buildings in the
community has not been determined. However, the design and materials of the
residence at 7836 North Laura Street, as well as the house next door at 7830, reflect
the high quality of residential construction occurring in parts of Panama Park during

S Florida Times Union. January 8. 1956, p. 23
T. B. Carrick records — Jacksonville Historical Society

%8 Baynard Kendrick. Florida Traus to Turnpikes 1914-1964. (Gainesville, FI Umwversity of Florida Press.

1964) pp 56-67. 245
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the first half of the twentieth century. Although Panama Park was annexed into the
City of Jacksonville in 1925, a city building permit record has not been located at this
time which would identify original builder and possibly architect.

Although having a recorded history dating to the Second Spanish Period (1784-1821),
Panama Park’s primary period of growth was during the first half of the twentieth
century when over thirty plats were filed in the area, however, the earliest recorded
plat, Lawton’s Subdivision of Panama, was submitted by Colonel Winburn J. Lawton
in 1878. Most of the later developments in Panama Park were replats of Lawton’s
Subdivision. During much of the last quarter of the nineteenth century, Panama Park
was associated more with recreation and entertainment than residential development,
particularly as related to the popular sport of bicycle racing. Although having some
residential development during this early period, the more current identity of the
Panama Park neighborhood is closely associated with George W. Clark’s Panama
Investment company’s Subdivision of Panama Park. Located on both the east and
west sides of North Main Street and including the parcel associated with the subject
property, Clark’s subdivision was placed on the market in 1909. Clark promoted his
fifty acre subdivision as a new upscale neighborhood located in a convenient and
scenic location, as well as the protection of property value with the use of restrictive
covenants. Industrial uses have since encroached along the juncture of the St. Johns
River and the Trout River, as well as commercial uses established along North Main
Street, the primary north entryway into Jacksonville before the interstate highways.
However, the residential sections of Panama Park, which are predominately single-
family, have remained stable.%

The first occupant of the residence at 7836 North Laura Street was Lonnie B. and
Dorothea Bryan. Although identified in the 1928 city directory as a salesman, Lonnie
B. Bryan was associated with the recreational business including the Gem Floridian
Billiards Parlor and later the Floridian Amusement Company, which had a billiard
parlor located at 215-217 West Forsyth Street. In 1936, he became the president of
Duval Spirits Company, which was owned by him and his brother, James Baker
Bryan who later sold out to Lonnie Bryan. After Lonnie Bryan moved to
Jacksonville Beach by 1938, the residence was occupied by Marion C. and Ida
Whitehead from 1938 to 1942. A railroad conductor, Marion Whitehead and his
family moved to Riverside in 1943 with the house being re-occupied by Lonnie B.
and Dorothea Bryan. Reportedly, Lonnie Bryan built and resided in the house at
7817 North Laura Street before moving to 7836 North Laura Street.

Lonnie B. Bryan’s brother, James Baker Bryan, was responsible for constructing the
residence next door at 7830 North Laura Street which reflects the same age and style

% Summary of Panama Park history developed trom historical context developed in the landmark
designation report (LM-08-1)
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of the subject property. Over the years, James Baker Bryan owned and operated
many popular night clubs in Jacksonville including the Windmill on Philips Highway,
the Show Bar along the south side of the river across from Downtown, and the
Skyway on North Main Street. His clubs also included slot machines which were
legal in Florida for a short period between 1935 and 1937. According to family
members, both brothers were involved in the smuggling and sale of bootlegged
Cuban rum during prohibition which ended in 1933, a year before the construction of
both houses.”® Although not confirmed by family members, there were rumors that
the rum was shipped directly to their houses which had direct backyard access to the
Trout River, as well as that a tunnel connected the brothers’ houses on North Laura
Street.

G. Its suitability for preservation or restoration.

In utilizing this criterion, it has been the practice of the Planning and Development
Department to evaluate proposed landmarks based on evidence of significant exterior
alterations that have negatively impacted character-defining features, as well as
represent alterations difficult, costly, or impossible to reverse. Further, the degree
and nature of any exterior deterioration, as well as the evidence of long term and
potentially on-going neglect are also a factor in evaluating potential landmarks for
their suitability for preservation or restoration. Based on a site visit by a
representative of the Planning and Development Department, the residence at 7836
North Laura Street appears to be basically sound with no evidence of exterior
deterioration. The building has been continuously occupied and well maintained
since its construction in 1932. In 1950 an architecturally compatible one-story
addition was constructed to the rear. Alterations to the building, which include the
application of vinyl soffits, installation of aluminum windows replicating the 3/1
design of the original, the enclosing of a window pair with glass block and two others
with sliders, either have limited visibility from the public street or could be reversed.
It is the opinion of the Planning and Development Department that these alterations
have not impacted the general architectural integrity of the residence, and its
contribution to the historic ambiance of Panama Park.

"0 Oral Interview — Mrs. Donald Buchanan, November 17. 2008 (Her husband's grandmother was a sister
of Lonme & James Baker Bryan)

Oral Interview - Mr Harley Bryan, November 17, 2008 (Harley Bryan was the grandson of James Baker
Bryan). As a youth. Harley reported seeing slot machines stacked in the garage of his grandfather’s house
at 7830 North Laura Street.
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9-1 - Major Bibliographical References — Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence,
7836 North Laura Street

Books and Articles

Bradlay, Alfred G. A Chronology of Florida Post Offices. The Florida Federation of
Stamp Clubs, 1962.

Broward, Robert C. The Architecture of Henry John Klutho, The Prairie School in
Jacksonville. Jacksonville, FL; University of North Florida Press, 1983.

Buker, George E. Jacksonville, Riverport — Seaport. Columbia: University of South
Carolina Press, 1992.

Carter, Edwin Clarence, ed., The Territorial Papers of the United States. Vol. XXII, The
Territory of Florida. 1821 - 1824: 1956.

Clark, George W, Real Estate, A Trip to Panama Park Jacksonville, FL, c. 1908.

Crooks, James B. Ph.D. Jacksonville After the Fire, 1901 — 1919, A New South City.
Jacksonville, Fl: University of North Florida Presses, 1991.

Davis, T. Frederick. History of Early Jacksonville and Vicinity, 1513 - 1924. St.
Augustine: The Record Company, 1924.

Edwards, Lucy Ames. Grave Markers of Duval County, 1808-1916. Jacksonville,
Florida, 1955.

Esgate, James. Jacksonville, The Metropolis of Florida. Boston, MA, 1885.
Fisher, Prim W. History of the Rotary Club of Jacksonville. Jacksonville, Florida, 1962.

Gold, Pleasant Daniel Gold. History of Duval County. St. Augustine: The Record
Company, 1928.

Graham, Thomas. Charles H. Jones, Journalist & Politician of the Gilded Age.
Tallahassee, Florida: Florida A& M University Press, 1990.

Kendrick, Baynard. Florida Trails to Turnpikes 1914-1964. Gainesville, Fl:
University of Florida Press, 1964.

McAlester, Virginia & Lee. A Field Guide to American Houses. New York: Alfred
A. Knopf, 1984.
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Richard A. Martin, A Century of Service, St. Luke’s Hospital, 1873-1973. Jacksonville,
1973.

Martin, Richard A. and Daniel L. Schafer. Jacksonville’s Ordeal by Fire, A Civil
War History. Jacksonville, Florida: Florida Publishing Company, 1984.

Martin, Richard A. The City Makers. Jacksonville, Florida: Convention Press, Inc.,
1972).

Ward, James Robertson. Old Hickory’s Town, An Hllustrated History of Jacksonville.
Jacksonville: Old Hickory’s Town, Inc., 1985.

Webb, Wanton S. Editor and Compiler Webb’s Historical, Industrial and Biographical
Florida Part I. New York: W.S. Webb & Co., Publishers, 1885.

Wood, Wayne W. Jacksonville's Architectural Heritage: Landmarks for the Future.
Jacksonville: University of North Florida Press, 1989.

Works Progress Administration. Guide to Supplementary Vital Statistics From Church
Records in Florida. The Florida Historical Records Survey, 1942.

Works Projects Administration, Historical Records Survey, Spanish Land Grants in
Florida, Volume V, Confirmed Claims, S-V. Tallahassee, Florida: State Library
Board, May, 1941.

Miscellaneous Sources:

Jacksonville City Directories, 1878 -1879, 1882, 1928 - 1943.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 3, p. 46, 1909, Leidy’s Subdivision of Lot 6,
Lawton’s Subdivision.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 3, p. 76, 1910, Re-plat of Lots 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, &

46 of Lawton’s Subdivision .
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 8, p. 37, 1923, Panama Gardens.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 7, p. 42, 1921, Telfair’s Stockton Subdivision and
p- 43, 1921, Stockton’s Subdivision.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book Book p. 86, 1912, Main Street Heights;

Exhibit 1

Page 38 of 5y
L.

City of Jacksonville

Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form
Continuation Sheet

Duval County Courthouse, Plat book 16, p. 24, 1938, Westside Land Company’s Replat
of Main Street Heights.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 11, p. 6, 1925, Buffalo Gardens.
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 12, P. 62, 1926, First Addition to Buffalo Gardens.
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 15, pp. 4 & 5, 1936, Miller’s Buffalo Gardens;

Duval County Courthouse, Platbook 16, p. 64, 1939, A replat of the Second Addition to
Miller’s Buffalo Gardens.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 6, pp.81-82, 1916, Panama Investment Company’s
Subdivision of Panama Park.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 2, p. 83, 1907, Sand Fly Point.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book, 2, p. 50, 1905, Spencer & Whittaker Subdivision.
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 5, p. 60, 1919, Charles E. Bell’s Subdivision.
Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 7, p. 23, 1920, Bell’s Subdivsion.

Duval County Courthouse, Plat Book 3, p. 25, 1909, Gifford & Knight Subdivision.
Jacksonville Building Permit # 681, 1937.

Jacksonville Historical Society. T. B. Carrick records

Jacksonville Planning and Development Department, Population — Vertical File

The National Cyclopedia of American Biography, 267.

Oral Interview — Mrs. Donald Buchanan, November 17, 2008 .

Oral Interview — Mr. Harley Bryan, November 17, 2008

“Panama Park,” Jacksonville, Florida. (University of Florida Digital Library Center),
Florida Heritage Collection;

“Panama Park”. Part of unpublished paper by Wells & Fuller, University of Florida.
Panama Park Neighborhood File — Jacksonville Planning and Development Departmen
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City of Jacksonville

Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form

Continuation Sheet

Plat of W.J. Lawton’s Subdivision, AB-560, October, 1878. Topographic Section,

Jacksonville Department of Public Works.

Recreation & Community Services Web Site, Panama Park. (www.coj.net).

Rose Hill Cemetery, 2004, http://www.rosehillcemetery.org/index.as

R. Newton Wilcox, Marriages, deaths, accidents, duels, and runaways, etc. : compiled

from the Weekly Georgia telegraph. Macon, Georgia, 2002.

U.S. Census, Bibb County, Georgia, 1870.
U.S. Census, Duval County, Florida, 1880.

The Wheelmen Website.

Newspapers

The Florida Times Union

September 9, 1884, p. 44, C-2.
August 10, 1895, p.3, C-5

October 11, 1895, p. 8,, C-1

January 11, 1896, p. 5, C-1

January 19, 1896, p. 6, C-5

February 1, 1896, p. 5 C-1

July 14, 1896, p. 8, C-2

August 27, 1896, p. 5, C-1

January 1, 1897, p. 8, C-1

July 23, 1904, p. 5.

May 3, 1905, p. §, C-3.

March 14, 1939, p. 1

January 8, 1956, p. 23

September 7, 1970, p. B-2, 1-6.
Westside News, November 11, 1987, p. 10.
March 13, 1994, B-5

May 1, 1994, B-4

November 10, 1999, B-1

Westside News, January 5, 2000, 2-W

Jacksonville Journal, November 12, 1936;
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Landmark, Landmark Site, or Historic District Nomination Form
Continuation Sheet

The Record News, Thursday, July 11, 1974, p. 8.

Exhibit 1
Page 41 of 54y
Lonnie B. & Dorothea Bryan Residence 7836 North Laura Street
Name of Property Address

13. Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form*

Continuation Sheets (All information on continuation sheets must be typed. Sheets should have the name and address
of property at top, be labeled with the appropnate application heading, and be numbered)
Maps
A copy of a USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) Do not write upon or attach labels to this map.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Drawings (If available)
Current elevations, floorplans, etc.
Historic elevations fioorplans, etc.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.
(Do not write upon or attach permanent labels to the photographs.)
List all property owners within 350’ of the proposed landmark or landmark site.

List all contributing and non-contributing properties in the proposed historic district.

Attach proof of publication for the JHPC public hearing.
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LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND MAP
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JACKSONVILLE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
LM-08-01

The Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission will hold a Public
Hearing, pursuant to Section 307.104, City of Jacksonville Ordinance
Code on Application No.: LM-08-01 regarding the proposed designation

of the property at 7836 North Laura Street, Panama Park, as a City of
Jacksonville Landmark as noted below:

Date: Wednesday, November 19, 2008
Time; 3:00P. M.
Place: Exam Room |l

Mezzanine Level, City Hall
St. James Building

117 West Duval Street
Jacksonville, Florida

Information conceming the proposed designation is on file with the
Jacksonville Historic Preservation Commission and available for
inspection from 8:00 A. M. until 5:00 P. M. Monday through Friday at the
Offices of the Planning and Development Department, Suite 600, 128
East Forsyth Street, Jacksonville, Florida, (304) 630-1904.

“Exhibit A*, a legal description of the above referenced property is located
on the reverse side of this notice.

ALL PERSONS INTERESTED ARE NOTIFIED TO BE
PRESENT AT SAID TIME AND PLACE, AND THEY MAY
BE MEARD WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPOSED
DESIGNATION,

Exhibit 1
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The Commission will make a recommendation as to whether the
referenced property should or should not be designated as a Local
Landmark. The recommsendation will be forwarded to the Jacksonville

City Council for final action.

It a person decides to appeal a decision of the Jacksonviile
Historic Preservation Commission with respect to any matter
considered at such mesting, he will need a record of the
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he may need to
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made,
which record inciudes the testimony and evidence upon
which the appeal is to be based. § 286.0106, Florida

Statuies
Exhibit A
BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Real Estate Assessment Number: 032805 0000

Legal Description: 25-1S-26E, P | COS S/D Panama Park, Lot 6, Block 12
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l LM-08-01
- 7836 North Laura Street

RE# 032805 0000
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IV.

PROOF OF PUBLICATION OF PUBLIC NOTICE
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FrvAnciAL MEws &

Ihily Record PROOF OF PUBLICATION

{Published Daily Except Saturday and Sunday)
’ Jacksonwville, Duval County, Floaida

STATE OF FLORIDA;

b SS:
COUNTY OF DUVAL,

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared James F. Bailey, Jr., who on
oath says that he is the Publisher of FINANCIAL NEWS and DAILY RECORD, a daily

., {except Saturday and Sunday) newspaper published at Jacksonville, in Duval County,
Flarida; that the attached copy of advertisement, being «

Notice of Public Hearing on Application to Consider the Designation of mm——a;v ARING G

Propert AUEY
in the macer of /836 North Laura St:.' RE#032805-0000 au.m ¥ JACREONV
27 ez HTRTORIC LANDIMA RK- .
-  the 15th.day of Novexibon 3008 L1c:xt +
- ¢ onville wilihold i Public: Hearing in -
, Bauten Boich 2, Mecsaton Zaval, Oy Hail, -
in the Court, of Duval County, Florida, was published - Wm ' ﬁ"

in said newspaper i the issues of November 5, 2008

'Afﬁam furcher suys that the said FINANCIAL NEWS and DAILY RECORD is a newspaper
'at Jacksonville, in said Duval County, Florida, and that the smid newspaper has heretofore
been conunuonsly published in sard Euval County, Florida, each day {except Saturday and
Sunday) and has been entered as second class matter av the pust n#icc in Jacksonville, in
Jsaxd Duval County, Flonda, for a period of one year next preceding the first publication of

* “the attached copy of advertisement; and affiant further says that Lfn: has neither pawd nor
promised any person, firm or corporation any discount, rebate, commission or refund fos the
'lpurposc of securing this advertiscmment for publication i said newspaper.

]

Sworn w and subseri

| ANGELA CAMPBELL ’
NMMyPumm,mawoiﬂona
My comm. exp. Apr. 10, 2009

Angela Campbell
Comm. No. DD 398465 Natary Public
seal James F. Baiiey, Je. persanally known to me DD3198465
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1.

V.

LIST OF PROPERTY OWNERS LOCATED WITHIN THREE
HUNDRED AND FIFTY (350) FEET OF THE PROPOSED

LANDMARK SITE
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-'HINES DONIE R
_{12375 DUNNS CREEK RD
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32218-2013

HARRIS BROWNIE
~ |7825 LAURA ST N
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4121

N
' ADAMS JOHN D JR

_ 7805 NORTH LAURA ST
]JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4121

IBRYAN LON B I ET AL
P O BOX 3678
- |PONTE VEDRA BEACH, FL 32004

PARLIMENT RUSSELL
7858 LAURA ST
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4122

l
J

~ THOMPSON DAVID E & JEANINE W
7848 LAURA STN
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208

' }DANFORTH WILLIAM A & LYNNE W

l7830 LAURA ST
)JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4122

HOWARD EDWARD DAVID & MARGARET ELLYN
BARTLETT

7800 LAURA STN

:JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4122

MCCANN WILLIAM S & PATRICIA C
- 7664 NORTH LAURA ST
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4120

DARITY KENNETH & LENYARTA
7829 LAURA ST
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4121

BUCHANAN NEVA C ESTATE
7817 LAURA ST
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4121

BRYAN LON B JR ESTATE
P O BOX 3678
PONTE VEDRA BEACH, FL 32004-3678

BRYAN LON B lil ET AL
P O BOX 3678
PONTE VEDRA BEACH, FL 32004

LOESCHE FREDERICK J & SUSAN D
7852 N LAURA ST
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4122

MORRIS WILLIAM M Il & MARCIA K
7836 LAURA STN
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32208-4122

HOWARD LAURA J
2931 ST JOHNS AV UNIT 1
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32205

CSsX

500 WATER STREET

J910

JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202-4423

Exhibit 1
Page 54 of 5y




